
 

 

FORM 51-102F4 
BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT 

ITEM 1 - IDENTITY OF COMPANY 

1.1 Name and Address of Company 

FansUnite Entertainment Inc. (“FansUnite” or the “Company”) 
1080 – 789 W. Pender Street 
Vancouver, BC 
V6C 1H2 
  

1.2 Executive Officer 

The name and business telephone number of the executive officer of FansUnite who is 
knowledgeable about the significant acquisition and this Report is:  

Graeme Moore, Chief Financial Officer 
Telephone: (604) 329-8669 

 

ITEM 2 - DETAILS OF ACQUISITION 

2.1 Nature of Business Acquired 

On August 11, 2020, the Company completed its acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of Askott 
Entertainment Inc. (“Askott”). The Acquisition was completed pursuant to an amalgamation 
agreement among Askott, FansUnite and 1252956 B.C. Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
FansUnite. The Acquisition was approved by the shareholders of Askott at a special meeting 
of shareholders held on July 14, 2020.  

Further information about the Acquisition can be found in the news release of the Company 
dated August 11, 2020 and the material change report of the Company dated August 21, 
2020, both of which can be accessed under the Company’s issuer profile on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com.  

Askott is a Vancouver based software development company with a team that has been 
building award-winning online gambling software since 2013. Askott has produced a 
proprietary iGaming platform, Chameleon Gaming Platform, with an Esports first focus 
geared for the next generation of online bettors and casino players. The Chameleon Gaming 
Platform includes products for pre-match betting, in-play betting, daily fantasy, content and a 
certified RNG to produce casino style chance games. Management of Askott believes that 
the Chameleon Gaming Platform is scalable and ready to go to market. Askott intends to use 
the Chameleon Gaming Platform for its own free-to-play internal brands as well as signing its 
first external real-money partners onto the platform. Askott is also the developer of 
proprietary RNG games that it is now beginning to offer to its licensees. Two games are in 
production and a third title is in development, with more on the horizon.  

2.2 Acquisition Date 

August 11, 2020. 



 

 

2.3 Consideration 

Existing Askott shareholders received 1.9193 common shares of FansUnite (the "FansUnite 
Shares") for each Askott common share (an "Askott Share") held at closing (the "Exchange 
Ratio"), representing an implied valuation of C$0.7485 per Askott Share, and resulting in the 
issuance of an aggregate of 71,171,212 FansUnite Shares at a price of C$0.39 per 
FansUnite Share to the former Askott shareholders. In addition, former holders of 125,000 
common share purchase warrants of Askott became entitled to purchase an aggregate of up 
to 239,912 FansUnite Shares at an exercise price of approximately C$0.32 per FansUnite 
Share with expiry date on May 31, 2023 (the "FansUnite Warrants") and former holders of 
1,820,000 stock options of Askott became entitled to purchase an aggregate of up to 
3,493,122 FansUnite Shares at exercise prices ranging from approximately C$0.26 to C$0.32 
per FansUnite Share, with expiry dates between September 27, 2020 and January 1, 2025 
(the "FansUnite Options"). 

Concurrently with the Acquisition, Askott completed a non-brokered private placement (the 
“Concurrent Offering”) of 12,712,115 subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) at 
$0.40 per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of $5,009,846. Upon 
completion of the Acquisition, each Subscription Receipt was automatically exchanged for 
one common share of Askott (an “Askott Share”) and one-half of one warrant of Askott (an 
“Askott Warrant”). The Askott Shares and Askott Warrants were then immediately 
exchanged for 12,712,115 FansUnite Shares and 6,262,307 FansUnite Warrants. Each 
FansUnite Warrant issued in connection with the Concurrent Offering entitles the holder to 
purchase one FansUnite Share at an exercise price of C$0.55 per FansUnite Share with 
expiry date on August 11, 2022. The former holders of the broker and advisory warrants 
issued in connection with the Concurrent Offering also became entitled to purchase an 
aggregate of up to 779,762 FansUnite Shares at an exercise price of C$0.55, with an expiry 
date of July 21, 2022. 

Further information about the Acquisition can be found in the news release of the Company 
dated August 11, 2020 and the material change report of the Company dated August 21, 
2020, both of which can be accessed under the Company’s issuer profile on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 

2.4 Effect on Financial Position 

Except as disclosed in this report or otherwise publicly disclosed and in the ordinary course of 
FansUnite’s business, FansUnite does not currently have any plans or proposals for material 
changes in its business or the business of Askott which may have a significant impact on the 
financial performance and financial position of FansUnite.  

Upon completion of the Acquisition, Duncan Peter McIntyre, Saxon Tudor Shadforth and 
Shafin Diamond Tejani resigned as directors of the Company and were replaced with Scott 
Burton (the founder and former CEO of Askott), James Keane and Chris Grove. Scott Burton 
became the CEO of FansUnite, and Darius Eghdami became the President of FansUnite. 
Jeremy Hutchings became the CTO of FansUnite. Duncan Peter McIntyre resigned as COO 
of the Company, and Ian Winter became the COO of FansUnite. 

Although the Acquisition was disclosed as a reverse takeover for securities purposes in the 
material change report of the Company dated August 21, 2020, the Acquisition does not 



 

 

constitute a reverse takeover for accounting purposes, in accordance with IFRS 3. As such, 
the continuing books of the Company will be that of FansUnite.  

2.5 Prior Valuations 

To the knowledge of FansUnite, there has been no valuation opinion obtained within the last 
12 months by Askott or FansUnite required by securities legislation or a Canadian exchange 
or market to support the consideration paid by FansUnite for Askott.  

2.6 Parties to Transaction 

 The transaction described herein was not with any "informed person" (as defined in National 

 Instrument 51-102 - Continuous Disclosure Obligations), associate or affiliate of FansUnite.  

2.7 Date of Report 

September 22, 2020. 

ITEM 3 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHER INFORMATION 

Pursuant to Part 8 of National Instrument 51-102 - Continuous Disclosure Obligations, the 
following financial statements are attached to and form part of this Report.  

  Attached as Schedule A hereto are the following financial statements of Askott:  

1. the consolidated annual financial statements of Askott for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018. FansUnite has not requested the consent of 
Askott’s auditors to include their auditor's report in this Report; therefore, the 
auditors have not given their consent to include their auditor's report in this Report 
and 
 

2. the consolidated interim financial statements of Askott for the six-month periods 
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 (unaudited).  
 

Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain information contained or incorporated by reference herein may constitute "forward-looking 
information" under Canadian securities legislation. Generally, forward-looking information can be 
identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "believes," "belief," "expects," "intends," 
"anticipates," "potential," "should," "may," "will," "plans," "continue" or similar expressions to be 
uncertain and forward-looking. Forward-looking statements may include, without limitation, statements 
relating to future outlook and anticipated events; plans or proposals of FansUnite for material changes 
in its business or the business of Askott; effects of the Acquisition on the Company’s financial 
performance or position; management’s beliefs with respect to the scalability and market-readiness of 
the Chameleon Gaming Platform; Askott’s proposed use of the Chameleon Gaming Platform; the 
production and development of Askott’s proprietary RNG games; the Company's ability to become a 
leading technology platform and a leader in the global I-gaming market, and to serve the gaming 
market; the potential growth of the Company and the gaming market; the increased number of betting 
options; the ability of the Company to scale its B2B arm and maintain its B2C platforms; the 
Company's unique portfolio of assets; and discussion of future plans, projections, objectives, 
estimates and forecasts and the timing related thereto. Forward-looking statements are based on the 
Company's estimates and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 



 

 

that may cause the actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements of FansUnite to be 
materially different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or forward-
looking information. Additional information regarding the risks and uncertainties relating to the 
Company's business are contained under the heading "Risk Factors" in the Company's Non-Offering 
Prospectus dated March 27, 2020 filed on its issuer profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and risks 
related to global pandemics, including the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) global health pandemic, and 
the spread of other viruses or pathogens and influence of macroeconomic developments. Accordingly, 
readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements and forward-looking 
information. The forward-looking statements in this news release are made as of the date of this 
release. FansUnite disclaims and does not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements or forward-looking information, whether as a result of new-information, future events or 
otherwise, except as required by applicable securities laws. 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

AS AT AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  



 
 

 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Directors of 

Askott Entertainment Inc. 

 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Askott Entertainment Inc. (the “Company”), 

which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the 

consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity (deficiency), and cash flows 

for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then 

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 

are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our 

audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Other Information 

 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor's report 

includes Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 
We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 



 
 

 
 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Glenn Parchomchuk. 
 
 

   “DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP” 

 
 
Vancouver, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
August 4, 2020 

 

 
  



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT DECEMBER 31 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  
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Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Going Concern 

Note 13 – Subsequent Events  

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors on August 4, 2020 

 

/s/ Scott Burton    /s/ Andy Edelmeier 

______________________  _________________________   

Mr. Scott Burton, CEO   Mr. Andy Edelmeier, Director 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

$ $

Current assets

   Cash  1,476,940                  3,200,701                    

Accounts receivable 39,265                       3,178                           

   Prepaids and deposits 16,095                       26,662                         

Total current assets 1,532,300                  3,230,541                    

Non-current assets

Loan due from related party 4 223,772                     68,136                         

Equipment 5 12,193                       -                              

Intangible assets 8 449,047                     -                              

Right of use asset 6 101,278                     -                              

Deposit -                             5,732                           

786,290                     73,868                         

Total assets 2,318,590                  3,304,409                    

Current liabilities

Account payable and accrued liabilities 220,006                     131,035                       

Lease liability 6 33,048                       -                              

Total current liabilities 253,054                     131,035                       

Non-current liability

Lease liability 6 73,324                       -                              

Total liabilities 326,378                     131,035                       

Shareholders' equity                         

Share capital 7 10,577,522                9,745,195                    

Reserves 7 1,032,908                  355,959                       

Share subscriptions receivable 7 -                             (14,529)                       

Deficit (9,618,218)                 (6,913,251)                  

Total shareholders' equity 1,992,212                  3,173,374                    

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,318,590                  3,304,409                    



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)          
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Note 2019 2018

$ $

Revenue 3,669          5,510          

Cost of sales 16,870        51,311        

Gross profit (loss) (13,201)       (45,801)       

Operating expenses

Office and administrative 83,194        56,057        

Licensing fees 22,179        976             

Utilities 6,922          22,457        

Marketing, advertising, and promotion 249,556      158,355      

Insurance 29,851        16,349        

Web hosting 25,701        65,562        

Rent 44,999        29,559        

Software and IT 255,506      21,359        

Consulting fees 4,7 168,328      100,971      

Professional fees 390,920      117,292      

Wages and benefits 4 677,694      781,741      

Sub-contractors 45,471        119,725      

Travel 71,215        39,685        

Amortization 5,6 38,795        -                  

Trading services 542             -                  

Share-based payments 4,7 925,820      77,433        

Total operating expenses (3,036,693)  (1,607,521)  

Loss before the following: (3,049,894)  (1,653,322)  

SRED recovery 201,975      126,685      

Revaluation of conversion of derivative liability 9 -                  (1,327,575)  

Interest income 10,545        -                  

Loss on below market loan 4 (88,855)       (38,899)       

Foreign exchange loss (27,609)       (30,188)       

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year (2,953,838)  (2,923,299)  

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.09)$         (0.11)$         

Basic and diluted weighted average number

     of shares outstanding 32,605,705 25,428,509 



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)               
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Note Number of shares Share capital Reserves

Share 

subscriptions 

receivable Deficit Total

$ $ $ $ $

Balance, December 31, 2017 16,359,409            951,915       278,526     -                      (3,989,952)    (2,759,511) 

Private placement 7 7,033,591                4,332,691      -                (14,529)           -                      4,318,162     

Shares issued as finder's fees 7 52,525                     32,355           -                -                      -                      32,355          

Share issue costs 7 -                               (203,784)        -                -                      -                      (203,784)       

Issuance of shares on conversion of convertible notes 7,9 8,021,100                4,632,018      -                -                      -                      4,632,018     

Share-based payment expense 7 -                               -                     77,433         -                      -                      77,433          

Loss for the year -                               -                     -                -                      (2,923,299)      (2,923,299)    

Balance, December 31, 2018 31,466,625            9,745,195    355,959     (14,529)         (6,913,251)    3,173,374   

Private placement 7 1,278,421                787,507         -                  14,529            -                      802,036        

Share issue costs 7 -                               (35,180)          -                  -                      -                      (35,180)         

Shares issued for services 7 129,870                   80,000           -                  -                      -                      80,000          

Share-based payments 7 -                               -                     925,820       -                      -                      925,820        

Transfer of fair value on cancellation of options 7 -                               -                     (248,871)     -                      248,871          -                    

Loss for the year -                               -                     -                  -                      (2,953,838)      (2,953,838)    

Balance, December 31, 2019 32,874,916            10,577,522  1,032,908 -                      (9,618,218)    1,992,212   



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2019 2018

$ $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the year (2,953,838)          (2,923,299)         

Adjustments for:

Share-based payments 925,820               77,433               

Amortization 38,795                 -                         

Loss on below market rate loan 88,855                 38,899               

Interest expenses on lease liability 12,282                 -                         

Revaluation of derivative liability -                          1,327,575          

Write-down of equipment -                          6,424                 

Loss on foreign exchange -                          53,689               

Changes in non-cash working capital items:

Accounts receivable (36,087)               59,860               

Prepaids and deposits 52,041                 22,238               

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 168,971               54,547               

Loan due from related party -                          10,760               

Cash used in operating activities (1,703,161)          (1,271,874)         

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Deposits 5,732                   (5,732)                

Development of intangible asset (449,047)             -                         

Purchase of equipment (15,978)               -                         

Loan to related parties (285,965)             (106,234)            

Cash used in investing activities (745,258)             (111,966)            

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds received from issuance of shares 802,036               4,318,162          

Share issue costs (35,180)               (171,429)            

Repayment of lease liability (42,198)               -                         

Cash provided by financing activities 724,658               4,146,733          

Change in cash during the year (1,723,761)          2,762,893          

Cash at beginning of year 3,200,701            437,808             

Cash, end of year 1,476,940            3,200,701          

Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Shares issued for services included in consulting fees 80,000                 -                         

Interest lease liability included in office and administrative 12,282                 -                         

Converted debt to share capital -                          4,632,018          

Subscriptions receivable -                          14,529               

Shares issued as finder's fees -                          32,355               



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

 

Askott Entertainment Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in British Columbia on July 29, 2014. The 

Company’s head office is located at 303-780 Beatty Street, Vancouver, BC V6B 2M1.  The Company is a full-

service development company focused on the regulated online gaming space. Services range from project 

consultation to full service design and development. The Company has been involved in every aspect of the 

regulated gaming space including: licensing, hosting, payments, security, mobile and complete product 

development.  

 

To date, the Company has incurred losses and further losses are anticipated as the Company further develops 

its business.  The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to generate profitable 

operations in the future, and to continue to secure additional financing.  There can be no assurance that the 

Company will be successful in its efforts to raise additional financing or if financing is available that it will be 

on terms that are acceptable to the Company.  The Company anticipates it has sufficient funding for the ensuing 

12 months.   

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. In addition, these 

consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash 

flow information. The accounting policies below have been applied to all periods presented in these 

consolidated financial statements and are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations of the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (“IFRIC”). 

 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and all financial amounts, other than 

per-share amounts, are rounded to the nearest dollar. The functional currency of the Company and its 

subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar. 

 

a. Basis of measurement 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement basis specified by IFRS 

for each type of asset, liability, revenue and expense.   

 

b. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions 

 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 

management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements 

and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are 

continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of 

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from these 

estimates.  

 

Critical judgements exercised in applying accounting polices that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued) 

 

b. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 

Determination of functional currency 

 

The Company determines the functional currency through an analysis of several indicators such as expenses 

and cash flow, financing activities, retention of operating cash flows, and frequency of transactions within the 

reporting entity.  

 

Going concern  

 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments regarding 

the going concern of the Company as previously discussed in note 1.  

 

Impairment of long-lived assets 

 

The Company performs impairment testing annually for long-lived assets as well as when circumstances 

indicate that there may be impairment for these assets. Management judgement is involved in determining if 

there are circumstances indicating that testing for impairment is required, and in identifying cash generating 

units (“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment testing. 

 

The Company assesses impairment by comparing the recoverable amount of a long-lived asset, CGU, or CGU 

group to its carrying value. The recoverable amount is defined as the higher of: (i) value in use; or (ii) fair value 

less cost to sell. The determination of the recoverable amount involves management judgement and estimation. 

These estimates and assumptions could affect the Company’s future results if the current estimates of future 

performance and fair values change.  

 

Estimation Uncertainty  

 

The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty that 

could impact the carrying amount of assets and liabilities:  

 

Depreciation and amortization 

 

The Company’s equipment and finite-life intangible assets are depreciated and amortized using the straight-

line method, taking into account the estimated useful lives of the assets and residual values. Changes to these 

estimates may affect the carrying value of these assets, net earnings, and comprehensive income (loss) in future 

periods. 

 

Income taxes 

 

Provisions for income taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a 

qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the 

end of the reporting period. However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result 

from audits by taxing authorities. Where the final outcome of these tax-related matters is different from the 

amounts that were originally recorded, such differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which 

such determination is made.  

 

Economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefits of intangible assets  

 

Management has determined that intangible asset costs which were capitalized may have future economic 

benefits and may be economically recoverable. Management uses several criteria in its assessments of 

economic recoverability and probability of future economic benefits including anticipated cash flows and 

estimated economic life. 

 



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued) 

 

b.  Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 

Convertible notes 

 

The terms and conditions of financial liabilities may contain embedded derivatives.  In fiscal 2016 and 2017 

the Company entered into a series of debt agreements (Note 9).  The Company evaluated whether the 

convertible notes contained an embedded derivative and determined that the conversion feature does not qualify 

as equity as it does not satisfy the “fixed for fixed” requirement.  The number of potential common shares to 

be issued is contingent on a variable carrying amount for the financial liability.  The liability is variable because 

the functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar and the convertible notes are denominated in 

US dollars, therefore the amount to be settled depends on the foreign exchange rate at the date of settlement.  

Consequently, the conversion feature is classified as a derivative liability recorded at fair value and is separated 

from the debt host instrument.  The derivative value was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model and the residual value was attributed to the host loan component.   

 

Valuation of share-based compensation 

 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model for valuation of share-based compensation.  Option 

pricing models require the input of subjective assumptions including expected price volatility, interest rate, and 

forfeiture rate.  Changes in input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate and the Company’s 

earnings and equity reserves.  

 

c. Basis of consolidation 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on a consolidated basis and include the accounts of the Company 

and the following subsidiaries:  

 

Entity Registered Holding 

ESP Limited Isle of Man 

100% owned (prior to 

dissolution on October 

21, 2019) 

Askott Entertainment (Malta) Ltd. Malta 100% owned 

E.G.G. Ltd. Malta 100% owned 

 

Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating 

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The consolidated financial statements include 

the accounts of the Company and its direct wholly-owned subsidiaries.  All significant intercompany 

transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

 

Where the Company’s interest is less than 100%, the interest attributable to outside shareholders is reflected in 

non-controlling interest. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified 

separately from the Company’s equity therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests 

at the date of the original business combination and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity 

since the date of the combination.  

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

a. Revenue Recognition 

 

Gaming revenue primarily represents the difference between the amounts of bets placed by customers less 

amounts won (i.e., net house win) and is presented net of certain promotional discounts which are treated as a 

reduction to the transaction price. Gaming transactions are instantaneously settled and revenue is recognized 

at a point in time. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

b. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

 

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed to determine 

whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any.  The recoverable 

amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  Fair value is determined as the amount 

that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and 

willing parties.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset.  If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in 

profit or loss for the period.  For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 

recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 

For assets that generate largely independent cash inflows, which is comprised of intangible assets of the 

Company, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit (‘CGU’) to which the asset 

belongs. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased 

to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the carrying amount 

that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. 

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 

c. Provisions 

 

Liabilities are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) that has arisen as 

a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the 

obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A provision is a 

liability of uncertain timing or amount. 

 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the cash flows expected to be required to settle the obligation 

discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risk specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest 

expense. 

 

d. Income Taxes 

 

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

 

Current tax assets and liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the 

current or prior reporting periods, that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit 

which differs from profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  Calculation of current tax is based 

on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 

Deferred taxes are calculated on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

and their tax bases. Deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwill or on the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects taxable 

profit or accounting profit. Deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences associated with shares in 

subsidiaries and joint ventures is not provided for if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled 

by the Company and it is probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

d. Income Taxes (continued) 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to 

taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are likely to reverse. The effect on deferred 

tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in profit or loss in the period that includes the 

substantive enactment date. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all temporary differences, carry-forward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which they can be utilized.   

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Company has a right and intention to offset current 

tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same entity or different entities which intend 

to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or simultaneously in each future period in which 

significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of income or expense in profit or 

loss, except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 

in which case the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 

 

e. Share capital 

 

The Company records proceeds from share issuances net of issue costs and any tax effects in shareholders’ 

equity.  Common shares held by the Company are classified as treasury stock and recorded as a reduction to 

shareholders’ equity.  

  

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants 

issued as private placement units.  The residual value method first allocates value to the more easily measurable 

component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable component.  

The Company considers the fair value of common shares issued in private placements to be the more easily 

measurable component of unit offerings.  The balance, if any, is allocated to any attached warrants or other 

features.  Any fair value attributed to warrants is recorded as reserves. 

 

f. Share-based Payments 

 

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Company receives goods or services as consideration for its 

own equity instruments are accounted for as equity-settled transactions and, when determinable, are recorded 

at the value of the goods and services received. If the value of the goods and services received is not 

determinable, then the fair value of the share-based payment is used. 

 

The Company uses a fair value-based method (Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model) for all share options 

granted to directors, employees and certain non-employees. For directors and employees, the fair value of the 

share options is measured at the date of grant. For grants to non-employees where the fair value of the goods 

or services is not determinable, the fair value of the share options is measured on the date the services are 

received. 

 

The fair value of share-based payments is charged to profit or loss, with the offsetting credit to reserves. For 

directors, employees and consultants, the share options are recognized over the vesting period based on the 

best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest.  If options vest immediately, the 

expense is recognized when the options are issued.  Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication 

that the number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative adjustment 

prior to vesting is recognized in the current period.  For non-employees, the share options are recognized over 

the related service period. When share options are exercised, the amounts previously recognized in reserves 

are transferred to share capital. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

f. Share-based Payments (continued) 

 

In the event share options are forfeited prior to vesting, the associated fair value recorded to date is reversed. 

The fair value of any vested share options that expire remain in reserves.  

 

g. Related Party Transactions 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party 

or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are 

also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.  Related 

parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction 

when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.   

 

h. Equipment  

 

Equipment items are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method at the following annual rates:  

  

Equipment      Straight-Line 45%  

 

Equipment that is withdrawn from use, or has no reasonable prospect of being recovered through use or sale, 

are regularly identified and written off.   

 

The assets' residual values, depreciation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 

each reporting date.  

  

Subsequent expenditures relating to an item of equipment are capitalized when it is probable that future 

economic benefits from the use of the assets will be increased. All other subsequent expenditures are recognized 

in profit or loss. 

 

i. Intangible assets 

 

Intangible assets are recognized and measured at cost. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized 

using the straight-line method over the useful life of the asset. The Company conducts an annual assessment 

of the residual balances, useful lives and amortization methods being used for intangible assets and any changes 

arising from the assessment are applied by the Company prospectively  Depreciation is recognized using the 

straight-line method over 3 years.  

 

j. Earnings (Loss) per Share 

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) (the numerator) by the weighted 

average number of outstanding common shares for the period (denominator). In computing diluted earnings 

per share, an adjustment is made for the dilutive effect of outstanding share options, warrants and other 

convertible instruments.  

 

In the periods when the Company reports a net loss, the effect of potential issuances of shares under share 

options and other convertible instruments is anti-dilutive. Therefore, basic and diluted loss per share are the 

same. When diluted earnings per share is calculated, only those share options and other convertible instruments 

with exercise prices below the average trading price of the Company’s common shares for the period will be 

dilutive. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

k. Financial Instruments  

 

Financial assets  

 On initial recognition, financial assets are recognized at fair value and are subsequently classified and measured 

at: (i) amortized cost; (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or (iii) fair value through 

profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model in 

which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. A financial asset is measured 

at fair value net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition except for financial assets at 

FVTPL where transaction costs are expensed. All financial assets not classified and measured at amortized cost 

or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading, 

the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other 

comprehensive income.  

  

The classification determines the method by which the financial assets are carried on the statement of financial 

position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded. Cash, accounts receivable, loan due 

from related party, and deposits are measured at amortized cost. 

  

Impairment 

  An ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model applies which requires a loss allowance to be recognized based on 

expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash flows associated with the asset is determined 

and an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between this amount and the carrying amount as 

follows: the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash flows 

associated with the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either directly or 

through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period.  

  

In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets measured at amortized 

cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that 

the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized 

cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. 

  

Financial liabilities  

  Financial liabilities are designated as either: (i) fair value through profit or loss; or (ii) amortized cost. All 

financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost except for financial liabilities at 

FVTPL. The classification determines the method by which the financial liabilities are carried on the statement 

of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded. Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities and convertible notes – liability are classified as amortized cost and carried on the statement 

of financial position at amortized cost.  Convertible notes – derivative and derivative liability – options are 

carried at FVTPL. 

   

l. Share Issuance Costs 

 

Share issuance costs, which include commissions, facilitation payments, professional fees and regulatory fees, 

are charged directly to share capital. 

 

m. Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

 

Total comprehensive income comprises all components of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  

Other comprehensive income includes items such as gains and losses on re-measuring FVOCI financial assets 

and the effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge. 

 

 

 

 

 



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

          

 

- Page 15 of 28 - 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

n. Foreign Currency Translation 

 

The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.  

The functional currency for the Company and all its subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar.  The functional 

currency determination was conducted through an analysis of the consideration factors identified in IAS 21, 

the Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.    

  

Transactions in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are recorded at exchange rates prevailing on the date 

of the transaction.  At the end of each reporting period, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company that 

are denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the statement of 

financial position date, while non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate prevailing 

on the transaction date.  Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates approximating those in 

effect on the date of the transaction. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation are included in the 

consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 

o. Convertible notes 

 

A convertible note is considered to be a compound financial instrument which requires assessment to determine 

if it contains a liability and an equity component related to the conversion feature.  When the conversion feature 

is for a variable number of shares, there is no equity component but rather is a potential embedded derivative.   

 

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid contract that also includes a non-derivative host with the 

effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to a standalone derivative.  

An embedded derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract 

to be modified according to a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign 

exchange rate, or other variable.   

 

The host instrument is accounted for as a compound instrument with a debt component and a separate 

embedded derivative component classified as a liability.  The initial carrying amount of the host instrument is 

the residual amount after separating the embedded derivative which is measured at fair value.   

 

The debt component is subsequently accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

The embedded derivative is subsequently measured at fair value at each reporting date, with the gains and 

losses in fair value recognized in profit or loss.   

 

p. Intangible assets excluding goodwill  

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost at the time of initial recognition. Intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized at their 

fair value at the acquisition date.  

 

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.  

 

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an 

internal project) is recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:  

(a) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;  

(b) the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;  

(c) the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;  

(d) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;  

(e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 

or sell the intangible asset; and  

(f) the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.  
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

p.  Intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued) 

 

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the costs incurred from 

the date when the intangible assets first meet the recognition criteria listed above. If no future economic benefit 

is expected before the end of the life of assets, the residual book value is expensed. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost. Where no internally-generated 

intangible asset can be recognized, development costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which it is 

incurred.  

 

Amortization of software is recognized on a straight-line basis over a period of 3 years. In the year development 

costs are added, amortization is based on a half year.  

 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered impairment losses. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs is 

estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment losses (if any).  

 

Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets (assets other than 

goodwill that contribute to the future cash flows of both the CGU under review and other CGUs) are also 

allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a 

reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.  

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 

of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  

 

Where impairment losses subsequently reverse, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment losses been recognized for the asset (or 

CGU) in prior years. A reversal of impairment losses is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 

q. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

 

Leases 

 

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16 – Leases (“IFRS 16”) which replaced IAS 17 Leases and 

IFRIC 4 – Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the 

recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. The standard is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases 

or finance leases for a lessee. Instead, all leases are treated in a similar way to finance leases applied in IAS 17. 

IFRS 16 does not require a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for short-term leases (i.e. leases of 12 months 

or less) and leases of low-value assets.   
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Leases (continued) 

 

The Company applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method. Under this method, financial 

information will not be restated and will continue to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for 

those periods. The Company will recognize lease liabilities related to its lease commitments for each of its leases. 

The lease liabilities will be measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the 

Company’s estimated incremental borrowing rate as at January 1, 2019, the date of initial application, resulting 

in no adjustment to the opening balance of deficit. The associated right-of-use assets will be measured at the 

lease liabilities amount, plus prepaid lease payments made by the Company. The Company has implemented the 

following accounting policies permitted under the new standard:  

  

a) leases of low dollar value will continue to be expensed as incurred; and 

b) the Company will not apply any grandfathering practical expedients.  

  

As at January 1, 2019 the Company recognized $136,288 in right-of-use assets and $136,288 of incremental 

lease obligations. 

 

The lease liabilities were discounted at a discount rate of 15% as at January 1, 2019.   

  

New accounting policy for leases under IFRS 16  

   

The following is the accounting policy for leases as of January 1, 2019 upon adoption of IFRS 16:  

  

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. The Company assesses whether the contract involves the use of an identified asset, 

whether the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset during the term of the 

arrangement exists, and if the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. At inception or on reassessment 

of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each 

lease component on the basis of their relative standalone prices. 

 

As a lessee, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of a 

lease. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which is comprised of the initial amount of the lease 

liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any decommissioning 

and restoration costs, less any lease incentives received.  

  

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the 

lease term, or the end of the useful life of the asset. In addition, the right-of-use asset may be reduced due to 

impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.  

  

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted by the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot be readily 

determined, the incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability 

are comprised of:  

  

a) fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable;   

b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 

at the commencement date;  

c) amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee;  

d) exercise prices of purchase options if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and 

e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option 

to terminate the lease.  

  

 



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

          

 

- Page 18 of 28 - 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Leases (continued) 

 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when 

there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or if there is a change in 

the estimate or assessment of the expected amount payable under a residual value guarantee, purchase, 

extension or termination option. Variable lease payments not included in the initial measurement of the lease 

liability are charged directly to profit or loss. 

 

4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

  Key Management Compensation: 

 

 Related party transactions not otherwise described in these consolidated financial statements are shown below. 

The remuneration of the Company’s directors and other members of key management, being the CEO, CFO, 

and the CTO who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 

the Company, consist of the following amounts: 

 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company entered into a loan agreement with E.G.G. Limited 

(“E.G.G.”), a subsidiary of E.G.G. N.V. (“Curacao”), a company incorporated in Curacao with common 

directors.   

 

On April 24, 2019, ownership of E.G.G. was transferred to the Company from Curacao for no consideration.  

Accordingly, the loan balance outstanding remained with E.G.G. N.V.  The following table summarizes the 

net liabilities assumed upon transfer: 

 

 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company is owed $351,526 (2018 - $107,035) in principal advances from 

Curacao.  

 

 The loan is non-interest bearing, unsecured and matures on July 24, 2022.  The Company has recorded an 

allowance of $127,754 against the loan reflecting the below market interest rate.  The Company has recorded 

a loss of $88,855 (2018 - $38,899) on the issuance of the below market rate loan during the year ended 

December 31, 2019. 

 

 

 

 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

$ $

Management fees 374,872                         246,240                         

Share-based payments 3,962                             16,404                           

378,834                         262,644                         

For the year ended

$

Cash 13,433

Sales tax receivable 2,143

Prepaids 1,163

Loans receivable 90,636

Accrued liabilities (960)

Loan due to related party (119,689)

Net Liabilities Transferred (13,274)
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5. EQUIPMENT 

 

 
 

 

6. RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITY 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equipment

$

Cost

Balance, December 31, 2017                  7,993 

Additions                  2,626 

Write-down              (10,619)

Balance, December 31, 2018 -                    

Additions  15,978              

Balance, December 31, 2019 15,978            

Accumulated Amortization

Balance, December 31, 2017 1,569                

Write-down (1,569)               

Balance, December 31, 2018 -                    

Amortization 3,785                

Balance, December 31, 2019 3,785               

Net Book Value

As at December 31, 2018 -                   

As at December 31, 2019 12,193            

Office Lease

Cost: $

At December 31, 2018 -                                  

Adjustment on initial adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 3) 136,288                      

At December 31, 2019 136,288                      

Depreciation:

At December 31, 2018 -                                  

Charge for the year 35,010                        

At December 31, 2019 35,010                        

Net Book Value:

At December 31, 2018 -                                  

At December 31, 2019 101,278                      
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6.    RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITY (continued) 

   

  Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated using the straight-line method of the remaining lease term. 

 

 
 

7. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

a. Authorized Share Capital 

 

 Unlimited number of common shares with no par value. 

 

b. Shares Issued 

 

Fiscal 2019: 

 

i) Issued 1,278,421 common shares at $0.616 per common share for gross proceeds of $787,507.  The 

Company paid $35,180 in share issuance costs; and 

ii) Issued 129,870 common shares for advisory services.  The shares issued were valued at $0.616 per 

common share.  Accordingly, a value of $80,000 has been recorded to share capital. 

iii) Subscribers who received shares as per the above issuances are entitled to participate in an anti-dilutive 

clause as documented in their subscription agreements.  If following the date of the subscription 

agreement, the Company issues any securities, for a subscription price (the “Future Price”) below $0.616, 

then the number of shares issued to the subscriber pursuant to the subscription agreement will be 

recalculated based on the average of the Future Price and $0.616 (the “Adjusted Subscription Price”). 

The Company will then issue to the subscriber, without payment of any additional consideration, an 

additional number of shares based on the Adjusted Subscription Price less the number of shares 

subscribed for (Note 13(ii)).  

 

Fiscal 2018: 

 

i) On February 28, 2018, the Company issued 8,021,100 common shares in conjunction with the conversion 

of the convertible notes (Note 9) with a total value of $4,632,018; 

ii) On February 28, 2018, the Company issued 1,623,377 common shares at a price of $0.616 per common 

share for gross proceeds of $1,000,000; 

iii) On October 15, 2018, the Company issued 3,383,546 common shares at a price of $0.616 per common 

share for gross proceeds of $2,084,264.  In connection with the financing, the Company issued 35,887 

common shares as finder’s fees with a value of $22,106; 

iv) On October 26, 2018, the Company issued 897,791 common shares at a price of $0.616 per common share 

for gross proceeds of $553,039; 

v) On November 15, 2018, the Company issued 1,040,291 common shares at a price of $0.616 per common 

share for gross proceeds of $640,819; 

vi) On November 28, 2018, the Company issued 65,000 common shares at a price of $0.616 per common share 

for gross proceeds of $40,040;   

vii) On December 4, 2018, the Company issued 16,638 finder’s shares at a price of $0.616 per finder’s share 

with a total fair value of $10,249; and 

viii) On December 5, 2018, the Company issued 23,586 common shares at a price of $0.616 per common share 

for gross proceeds of $14,529.  As at December 31, 2018, the amount owed was included in subscriptions 

receivable.          

$

Lease liability recognized as of January 1, 2019 136,288                      

Lease payments made (42,198)                       

Interest expense on lease liability 12,282                        

Lease liability at December 31, 2019 106,372                      

Less: current portion of lease liability (33,048)                       

Non-current portion of lease liability 73,324                        
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7.  SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

c. Stock Options  

 

The Company has a Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) whereby the maximum number of shares reserved for issue 

under the plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding shares. Under the Plan, the Board of Directors 

may from time to time authorize the grant of options to directors, employees, and consultants of the Company. 

Under the terms of the Plan, options will be exercisable for periods up to ten years and must have an exercise 

price not less than the fair market value of a share on the grant date. The Plan provides that the directors have 

the discretion to impose vesting of options. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company: 

 

i) Granted 665,000 stock options to certain employees and consultants of the Company.  Each option is 

exercisable at $0.616 per option for exercise periods ranging from 5 to 10 years; and  

ii) Cancelled 1,710,320 stock options.  Accordingly, share-based payment expense of $248,871 was 

removed from reserves.   

 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company did not grant any stock options. 

 

 A summary of the changes in stock options is presented below: 

 

 
 

 The following stock options were outstanding as at December 31, 2019: 

 

  
Pursuant to vesting schedules, the share-based payment expense for the stock options that were granted during 

the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, was $181,231 and $77,433, respectively. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of Weighted average

options exercise price

$

Balance, December 31, 2018 and 2017 2,314,910   0.20                         

Granted 665,000      0.62                         

Cancelled (1,710,320) 0.23                         

Balance, December 31, 2019    1,269,590                          0.38 

Outstanding Exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date

Weighted average 

remaining life (in 

years)

$

40,000          -                    0.62                September 1, 2024 4.67

619,590        619,590        0.20                September 30, 2024 4.75

40,000          40,000          0.20                October 31, 2024 4.84

20,000          10,000          0.20                February 22, 2026 6.15

50,000          25,000          0.20                June 5, 2026 6.43

500,000        158,338        0.62                March 1, 2029 9.17

      1,269,590          852,928 0.28                
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7.  SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

c. Stock Options (continued) 

 

The fair value of the stock options that were granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 was calculated 

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 

 

 
 

d. Warrants 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company: 

 

i) Issued 1,345,320 warrants exercisable at $0.20 per warrant with 895,320 expiring on May 31, 2023 and 

450,000 expiring on June 28, 2023; 

ii) Issued 125,000 warrants to consultants exercisable at $0.616 per warrant with an expiry date of March 

1, 2024; and 

iii) The share-based payment expense for the warrants issued during the year ended December 31, 2019, 

was $744,589 (2018 - $Nil).  

 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company did not issue any warrants. 

 

A summary of the changes in warrants is presented below: 

 

 
The following warrants were outstanding as at December 31, 2019: 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Risk-free interest rate 1.55%

Expected stock price volatility 100%

Expected dividend yield 0.0%

Expected option life in years 9.63

Forefeiture 0.0%

Number of Weighted average

warrants exercise price

$

Balance, December 31, 2018 

and 2017 -                      -                              

Issued 1,470,320        0.24                         

Balance, December 31, 2019         1,470,320 0.24                         

Outstanding Exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date

$

895,320         895,320             0.20                     May 31, 2023

450,000         450,000             0.20                     June 28, 2023

125,000         125,000             0.62                     March 1, 2024

       1,470,320            1,470,320 
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7.  SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

d. Warrants (continued) 

 

The fair value of the warrants that were granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 was calculated 

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 

 

 
8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

 Intangible assets are comprised of a software platform that can be licensed out to companies in the regulated 

online gaming industry.  The intangible assets were internally generated.  No amortization was taken during the 

year ended December 31, 2019 because the intangible assets are not yet available for use. 

 

 
 

9. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 

 

 During fiscal 2016, the Company entered into a series of simple agreement for future equity, or SAFE 

agreements (“Convertible Notes”) for gross proceeds of US$878,542. In fiscal 2017, the Company issued 

additional Convertible Notes for gross proceeds of US $2,556,616 and $25,000. The SAFE agreements include 

a valuation cap of US $6,000,000 (“SAFE price”), and a 20% discount to the share price in the event of a future 

equity financing (“Discount Price”).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Risk-free interest rate 1.39%

Expected stock price volatility 100%

Expected forfeiture rate Nil

Expected dividend yield 0%

Expected warrant life in years 3.81

Weighted average exercise price 0.24

Software

$

Cost

Balance, December 31, 2018 and 2017 -            

Additions  449,047     

Balance, December 31, 2019 449,047   

Accumulated Amortization

Balance, December 31, 2018 and 2017 -            

Amortization -            

Balance, December 31, 2019 -            

Net Book Value

As at December 31, 2018 -            

As at December 31, 2019 449,047   
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9. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 

 

  The SAFE agreements bear interest at nil% per annum, and there is no maturity date. In the event of an equity 

financing, the Company would issue to the investors the number of shares equal to the purchase amount at the 

financing price less the stated discount or the SAFE price, whichever provides the greater number of shares. In 

the event of a liquidity event (change of control or IPO), the Company would issue to the investors the number 

of shares equal to the purchase amount divided by the SAFE price or the Discount price. Alternatively, at the 

investors option, they could receive a cash repayment of the purchase amount.  Investors are also permitted, in 

the calendar year of signing to convert the purchase amount into common shares of the Company at the SAFE 

price.  

 

 The Company evaluated whether the Convertible Notes contained an embedded derivative and determined that 

the conversion feature does not qualify as equity.  The number of potential common shares to be issued is 

contingent on a variable carrying amount for the financial liability.  The liability is variable because the 

functional currency of the Company is Canadian and the Convertible Notes are denominated in US dollars, 

therefore the amount to be settled depends on the foreign exchange rate at the date of settlement. Consequently, 

the conversion feature is classified as a derivative liability.  

  

During fiscal 2018, the convertible notes were converted to shares.  Accordingly, the Company transferred the 

liability and derivative components of $2,979,518 and $1,652,500, respectively, to share capital.      

 

The derivative component was revalued at the date of conversion as $1,327,575 using the Black-Scholes pricing 

model with the following assumptions: a risk-free interest rate of 1.66%; an expected volatility of 100%; an 

expected life of 1 year; a forfeiture rate of zero; and an expected dividend of zero.  

 

(a) Liability component 

 

 

(b) Derivative component 

 

    Derivative component 

 
                                       $ 

Opening balance December 31, 2017                                      324,925  

   
Fair value adjustment  1,327,575 

Conversion to share capital  (1,652,500) 

   
Ending balance December 31, 2018                                                  -    

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

    Liability component 

                                              $ 

Opening balance December 31, 2017 2,925,829 

   
Foreign exchange  53,689 

Conversion to share capital (2,979,518) 

   
Ending balance December 31, 2018 - 
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

  

The Company is exposed to certain financial risks as listed below. There has been no change in the exposure 

to risk, nor its objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk from the prior year. Disclosures relating 

to exposure to risks, in particular credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk are 

provided below.   

 

  Credit Risk  

   

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 

its contractual obligations. The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit 

risk are primarily cash and shareholder loans. The Company limits its exposure to credit risk with respect to 

cash by investing available cash with major Canadian banks. Management’s assessment of the Company’s 

exposure to credit risk is low. 

  

The Company’s cash is not subject to any external restrictions. 

 

  Liquidity Risk  

  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. As at 

December 31, 2019, the Company has working capital of $1,279,246 (2018 - $3,099,506).  The Company may 

seek additional financing through debt or equity offerings, but there can be no assurance that such financing 

will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. Any equity offering will result in dilution to the 

ownership interests of the Company’s shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interests. 

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 

liabilities when due. As at December 31, 2019, the Company had cash of $1,476,940 (2018 - $3,200,701) and 

total liabilities of $326,378 (2018 - $131,035). 

 

 Market Risk    

  

Market risk incorporates a range of risks. Movements in risk factors, such as market price risk and currency 

risk, affect the fair values of financial assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2019, the Company is not exposed 

to significant market risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 

of changes in market interest rates.  The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is minimal.    

 

Fair Values  

  

At December 31, 2019, the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-

term to maturity, with the exception of shareholder loans which are valued using a valuation technique and 

included in level 3.     

 

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement.   

 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, 

unrestricted assets or liabilities. 

 

Level 2 – Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are not observable, either directly or 

indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

 

 



ASKOTT ENTERTAINMENT INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

          

 

- Page 26 of 28 - 
 

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

Level 3 – Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value 

measurement and unobservable (supported by little or no market activity).    

 

11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

  

As at December 31, 2019, the Company’s capital is composed of shareholders’ equity. The Company’s primary 

objectives, when managing its capital, are to maintain adequate levels of funding to support operations of the 

Company and to maintain corporate and administrative functions.  

 

The Company defines capital as items included in shareholders’ equity, consisting of the issued common stock. 

The capital structure of the Company is managed to provide sufficient funding for operating activities. Funds 

are primarily secured through a combination of equity capital raised by way of private placements and short-

term debt. There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to continue raising equity capital and 

short-term debt in this manner. The Company invests all capital that is surplus to its immediate needs in short-

term, liquid and highly rated financial instruments, such as cash and other short-term deposits, which are all 

held with major financial institutions.  

 

There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended December 

31, 2019.  The Company is not subject to external capital requirements.   

 

12. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 

 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates is as follows: 

  
 

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets that have not been included on the 

consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

  
 

2019 2018

$ $

Loss for the year (2,953,838) (2,923,299) 

Expected income tax recovery (798,000)    (799,000)    

Change in unrecognized temporary tax differences 556,000      385,000      

Permanent differences 250,000      381,000      

Share issue costs (9,000)        (46,000)      

Adjustment to prior years revision versus statutory tax returns 204,000      -                 

Change in statutory rates and foreign exchange (203,000)    79,000        

Income tax expense (recovery) -                 -                 

2019 2018

$ $

Deferred income tax assets:

Property and equipment 19,000        20,000        

Share issue costs 35,000        37,000        

Non-capital losses available for future periods 1,772,000   1,213,000   

1,826,000   1,270,000   

Unrecognized deferred tax assets (1,826,000) (1,270,000) 

Net deferred tax assets -                 -                 
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12. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (continued) 

 

The Company did not recognize the deferred tax assets for the year ended December 31, 2019 as future taxable 

profits are uncertain. 

 

The significant components of the Company’s temporary differences, unused tax credits and unused tax losses 

that have not been included on the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

 

 

 
 

Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities. 

 

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

  

 Subsequent to December 31, 2019:  

 

i) The Company entered into a letter of intent (the “LOI”) with Molystar Resources Inc. (“Molystar”) 

whereby the Company will amalgamate with Molystar and continue as one company (“Amalco”) (the 

“Amalgamation”).   

 

As part of the Amalgamation, the Company arranged a private placement for Molystar for 

approximately $400,000 (“Molystar Private Placement Funds”) in aggregate at a price of $0.25 per pre-

amalgamation common share of Amalco (each an “Amalco Share”) issuable upon conversion of the 

securities issued under the Molystar Private Placement.  

 

 On May 29, 2020, the Agreement with Molystar expired. 

 

ii) Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Company issued 1,375,401 common shares at $0.50 per 

common share for gross proceeds of $686,680.  The last financing the Company completed was priced 

at $0.616 per share.  As the Company recently completed a financing for less than the previous per 

share price of $0.616, existing shareholders were entitled to receive additional shares as part of an 

anti-dilutive clause.  Accordingly, the Company issued 882,888 shares to existing shareholders. 

 

iii) On January 1, 2020, the Company granted 1,695,000 stock options to directors, officers, and 

employees of the Company.  Each option is exercisable at $0.50 per option expiring January 1, 2025. 

 

iv) The Company previously approved a grant of 40,000 stock options to an employee on September 1, 

2019, and resolved to increase the option grant to 75,000 and to reprice the options from an exercise 

price of $0.616 to $0.50 per option.  These stock options are included in the total granted in note 13 

(iii) above. 

 
v) The Company previously approved a grant of 125,000 stock options to a consultant on September 10, 

2019, and resolved to reprice the options from an exercise price of $0.616 to $0.50 per option.  These 

stock options are included in the total granted in note 13 (iii) above. 

 

 

 

 

2019 Expiry 2018 Expiry

$ $

Temporary Differences:

Property and equipment 70,000        No expiry 74,000       No expiry

Share issue costs 131,000      2042 137,000     2041

Non-capital losses available for future periods 6,100,000   2036-2039 4,492,000  2036-2038
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued) 

 

vi) The Company previously approved a grant of 500,000 stock options to an employee on March 1, 2019 

prior to their resignation from the Company. The Company resolved to extend the exercise period of 

these options to a total of 180 days from the date of resignation and amend the vesting schedule as 

follows: 

a. 25% of the Options will be exercisable one year from the Grant Date; and 

b. The remainder of the Options shall vest in thirty-six (36) equal monthly increments on the first 

day of each calendar month thereafter. 

 

vii) On June 22, 2020, the Company entered into a definitive agreement (the “Agreement”) with 

FansUnite Entertainment Inc. (“FansUnite”).  Under the terms of the Agreement, FansUnite will 

acquire all of the outstanding shares of the Company by way of a three-cornered amalgamation (the 

"Transaction") pursuant to which the Company and a newly incorporated subsidiary of FansUnite will 

amalgamate under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) and continue as one corporation. 

 

The Company’s shareholders will receive approximately 1.9193 common shares of FansUnite (the 

"FansUnite Shares") for each Askott common share (an "Askott Share") held at closing (the 

"Exchange Ratio").  

 

FansUnite will issue an aggregate of approximately 68,457,313 FansUnite Shares to the Company’s 

shareholders at a deemed price of C$0.39 per FansUnite Share.  

 

The Agreement provides that completion of the Transaction is subject to certain conditions, including 

receipt of all regulatory approvals and the approval of at least two-thirds of the votes cast by holders 

of Askott Shares at a special meeting of Askott shareholders to be called for the purpose of approving 

the Transaction.  

 

The Agreement provides for, among other things, customary representations, warranties and 

covenants including reciprocal nonsolicitation and rights to match superior proposals, as well as a 

reciprocal $800,000 termination fee payable to either the Company or FansUnite under certain 

circumstances. The Transaction is subject to regulatory review and other customary conditions.  

 

viii) In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. 

This contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public 

health developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, 

potentially leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the 

duration or magnitude of the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business 

or results of operations at this time. 
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NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW 
 

 OF 
 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Under National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3(3) (a), if an auditor has not performed a review of 
the condensed consolidated interim financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating 
that the financial statements have not been reviewed by an auditor. 
 
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the Company have 
been prepared by and are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 
 
The Company’s independent auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements in 
accordance with standards established by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada for a review 
of interim financial statements by an entity’s auditor.  
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Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Going Concern 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

Note June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
$ $

Current assets
   Cash  934,400                     1,476,940                    

Accounts receivable 80,534                       39,265                         
   Prepaids and deposits 15,050                       16,095                         

Marketable securities 7 5,000                         -                                  
Total current assets 1,034,984                  1,532,300                    
Non-current assets

Loan due from related party 3 314,504                     223,772                       
Equipment 4 11,026                       12,193                         
Intangible asset 8 449,047                     449,047                       
Right of use asset 5 83,147                       101,278                       

857,724                     786,290                       
Total assets 1,892,708                  2,318,590                    

Current liabilities
Account payable and accrued liabilities 318,185                     220,006                       
Lease liability 5 34,280                       33,048                         

Total current liabilities 352,465                     253,054                       
Non-current liability

Loan 9 40,000                       -                              
Lease liability 5 53,103                       73,324                         

Total liabilities 445,568                     326,378                       

Shareholders' equity                         
Share capital 6 11,652,066                10,577,522                  
Reserves 6 1,045,534                  1,032,908                    
Deficit (11,250,460)               (9,618,218)                  

Total shareholders' equity 1,447,140                  1,992,212                    

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,892,708                  2,318,590                    
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 

Note

Three Months 
Ended June 30, 

2020

Three Months 
Ended June 30, 

2019

Six Months 
Ended June 

30, 2020

Six Months 
Ended June 

30, 2019

$ $ $ $

Revenue 21,278               -                        41,064        -                     
Cost of sales 6,254                 6,126                10,357        6,126             

Gross profit (loss) 15,024               (6,126)               30,707        (6,126)            

Operating expenses
Office and administrative 46,095               12,787              90,364        36,649           
Licensing fees -                        4,065                2,567          8,762             
Utilities 1,667                 1,005                4,053          3,200             
Marketing, advertising, and promotion 95,272               112,703            142,893      161,728         
Web hosting 12,290               11,401              19,898        13,977           
Rent 4,525                 6,149                20,431        23,099           
Software and IT 70,383               41,523              178,141      29,360           
Consulting fees 3 34,443               120,684            49,800        131,135         
Professional fees 137,478             138,588            198,076      150,426         
Wages and benefits 3 302,353             302,149            658,608      490,137         
Sub-contractors 14,915               15,356              25,955        22,801           
Travel 359                    21,379              15,306        48,038           
Amortization 4,5 10,257               18,820              20,209        18,820           
Regulatory and filing fees 1,000                 -                        11,000        -                     
Trading services 270                    -                        761             -                     
Share-based payments 3,6 -                        1,833                12,633        4,553             

Total operating expenses (731,307)           (808,442)           (1,450,695)  (1,142,685)     

Loss before the following: (716,283)           (814,568)           (1,419,988)  (1,148,811)     
Interest income 1,249                 -                        5,488          -                     
SRED recovery 213,416             -                        213,416      -                     
Loss on below market loan 3 -                        -                        (11,545)       -                     
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 14,317               (5,902)               21,831        (1,317)            

Loss and comprehensive loss for the period (487,301)           (820,470)           (1,190,798)  (1,150,128)     

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.02)$               (0.05)$               (0.04)$         (0.07)$            
Basic and diluted weighted average number
     of shares outstanding 26,828,464        16,316,775       26,828,464 16,316,775    
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 

Note Number of shares Share capital Reserves

Share 
subscriptions 

receivable Deficit Total

$ $ $ $ $

Balance, December 31, 2018 31,466,625            9,745,195    355,952     (14,529)         (6,913,251)    3,173,374    
Private placement 1,408,291                867,507         -                  14,529            -                      882,036         
Share issuance costs -                               (35,179)          -                  -                      -                      (35,179)          
Share-based payment expense -                               -                     4,553           -                      -                      4,553             
Loss for the period -                               -                     -                  -                      (1,150,128)      (1,150,128)     
Balance, June 30, 2019 32,874,916            10,577,523  360,505     -                      (8,063,379)    2,874,656    

Balance, December 31, 2019 32,874,916            10,577,522  1,032,901 -                      (9,618,218)    1,992,205    
Private placement 6 1,375,401                687,701         -                  -                      -                      687,701         
Share issue costs 6 -                               (54,601)          -                  -                      -                      (54,601)          
Anti-dilutive share issuance 6 882,888                   441,444         -                  -                      (441,444)         -                     
Share-based payments 6 -                               -                     12,633         -                      -                      12,633           
Loss for the period -                               -                     -                  -                      (1,190,798)      (1,190,798)     
Balance, June 30, 2020 35,133,205            11,652,066  1,045,534 -                      (11,250,460) 1,447,140    
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 

Six Months 
Ended June 30, 

2020

Six Months 
Ended June 30, 

2019

$ $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the period (1,190,798)          (1,150,128)         
Adjustments for:

Share-based payments 12,633                 4,553                 
Amortization 20,209                 18,820               
Interest expenses on lease liability 2,110                   -                         
Loss on related party loan 11,545                 -                         

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts receivable (41,269)               1,477                 
Prepaids and deposits 1,045                   (3,972)                
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 98,172                 (75,655)              

Cash used in operating activities (1,086,353)          (1,204,905)         

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Deposits -                          5,732                 
Purchase of equipment (911)                    (2,008)                
Purchase of marketable securities (5,000)                 -                         
Loan to related parties (102,277)             (9,586)                

Cash used in investing activities (108,188)             (5,862)                

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds received from issuance of shares 633,100               846,857             
Proceeds received from loan 40,000                 -                         
Repayment of lease liability (21,099)               (17,048)              

Cash provided by financing activities 652,001               829,809             

Change in cash during the period (542,540)             (380,958)            

Cash at beginning of period 1,476,940            3,200,701          

Cash, end of period 934,400               2,819,743          
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 

Askott Entertainment Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in British Columbia on July 29, 2014. The 
Company’s head office is located at 303-780 Beatty Street, Vancouver, BC V6B 2M1.  The Company is a full-
service development company focused on the regulated online gaming space. Services range from project 
consultation to full service design and development. The Company has been involved in every aspect of the 
regulated gaming space including: licensing, hosting, payments, security, mobile and complete product 
development.  

 
To date, the Company has incurred losses and further losses are anticipated as the Company further develops 
its business.  The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to generate profitable 
operations in the future, and to continue to secure additional financing.  There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be successful in its efforts to raise additional financing or if financing is available that it will be 
on terms that are acceptable to the Company.  The Company anticipates it has sufficient funding for the ensuing 
12 months.   
 
In March 2020 the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 
contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 
developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 
leading to an economic downturn. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration or magnitude of 
the adverse results of the outbreak and its effects on the Company’s business or results of operations at this 
time. 
 
On June 22, 2020, the Company entered into a definitive agreement (the “Agreement”) with FansUnite 
Entertainment Inc. (“FansUnite”).  Under the terms of the Agreement, FansUnite will acquire all of the 
outstanding shares of the Company by way of a three-cornered amalgamation (the "Transaction") pursuant to 
which the Company and a newly incorporated subsidiary of FansUnite will amalgamate under the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia) and continue as one corporation. 

 
The Company’s shareholders will receive approximately 1.9193 common shares of FansUnite (the 
"FansUnite Shares") for each Askott common share (an "Askott Share") held at closing (the "Exchange 
Ratio").  
 
FansUnite will issue an aggregate of approximately 68,457,313 FansUnite Shares to the Company’s 
shareholders at a deemed price of C$0.39 per FansUnite Share.  
 
The Agreement provides that completion of the Transaction is subject to certain conditions, including receipt 
of all regulatory approvals and the approval of at least two-thirds of the votes cast by holders of Askott 
Shares at a special meeting of Askott shareholders to be called for the purpose of approving the Transaction.  

 
The Agreement provides for, among other things, customary representations, warranties and covenants 
including reciprocal non-solicitation and rights to match superior proposals, as well as a reciprocal $800,000 
termination fee payable to either the Company or FansUnite under certain circumstances. The Transaction is 
subject to regulatory review and other customary conditions. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”), applicable to the preparation of interim financial statements, including International 
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34 Interim Financial Reporting. The condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements do not include all of the disclosures required for a complete set of annual financial statements and 
should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2019, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB. 

 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and all financial 
amounts, other than per-share amounts, are rounded to the nearest dollar. The functional currency of the 
Company and its subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar. 
 
The policies applied in these condensed interim consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS issued 
and effective as of June 30, 2020. 

 
a. Basis of measurement 

 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared using the measurement basis 
specified by IFRS for each type of asset, liability, revenue and expense.   

 
b. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions 

 
The preparation of the Company’s condensed consolidated interim financial statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated 
interim financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates.  
 
Critical judgements exercised in applying accounting polices that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the condensed consolidated interim financial statements are as follows: 

 
Determination of functional currency 

 
The Company determines the functional currency through an analysis of several indicators such as expenses 
and cash flow, financing activities, retention of operating cash flows, and frequency of transactions within the 
reporting entity.  
 
Going concern  

 
The preparation of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements requires management to make 
judgments regarding the going concern of the Company as previously discussed in note 1.  

 
Impairment of long-lived assets 

 
The Company performs impairment testing annually for long-lived assets as well as when circumstances 
indicate that there may be impairment for these assets. Management judgement is involved in determining if 
there are circumstances indicating that testing for impairment is required, and in identifying cash generating 
units (“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment testing. 

 
The Company assesses impairment by comparing the recoverable amount of a long-lived asset, CGU, or CGU 
group to its carrying value. The recoverable amount is defined as the higher of: (i) value in use; or (ii) fair value  
less cost to sell. The determination of the recoverable amount involves management judgement and estimation.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued) 
 

b. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
These estimates and assumptions could affect the Company’s future results if the current estimates of future 
performance and fair values change.  

 
Estimation Uncertainty  

 
The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty that 
could impact the carrying amount of assets and liabilities:  

 
Depreciation and amortization 

 
The Company’s equipment and finite-life intangible assets are depreciated and amortized using the straight-
line method, taking into account the estimated useful lives of the assets and residual values. Changes to these 
estimates may affect the carrying value of these assets, net earnings, and comprehensive income (loss) in future 
periods. 

 
Income taxes 

 
Provisions for income taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a 
qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the 
end of the reporting period. However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result 
from audits by taxing authorities. Where the final outcome of these tax-related matters is different from the 
amounts that were originally recorded, such differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made.  
 
Valuation of share-based compensation 
 
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model for valuation of share-based compensation.  Option 
pricing models require the input of subjective assumptions including expected price volatility, interest rate, and 
forfeiture rate.  Changes in input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate and the Company’s 
earnings and equity reserves.  
 
b. Basis of consolidation 

 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on a consolidated basis and 
include the accounts of the Company and the following subsidiaries:  

 
Entity Registered Holding 

Askott Entertainment (Malta) Ltd. Malta 100% owned 
E.G.G. Ltd. Malta 100% owned 

 
Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements include the accounts of the Company and its direct wholly-owned subsidiaries.  All significant 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

 
Where the Company’s interest is less than 100%, the interest attributable to outside shareholders is reflected in 
non-controlling interest. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified 
separately from the Company’s equity therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests 
at the date of the original business combination and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity 
since the date of the combination.  
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3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
  Key Management Compensation: 
 

 Related party transactions not otherwise described in these condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements are shown below. The remuneration of the Company’s directors and other members of key 
management, being the CEO, COO, CFO, and the CTO who have the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Company, consist of the following amounts: 
 

 
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $42,550 (2019 - $Nil) owed to key management of the 
Company.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company entered into a loan agreement with E.G.G. Limited 
(“E.G.G.”), a subsidiary of E.G.G. N.V. (“Curacao”), a company incorporated in Curacao with common 
directors.   
 
On April 24, 2019, ownership of E.G.G. was transferred to the Company from Curacao for no consideration.   
As at June 30, 2020, the Company is owed $453,803 (2019 - $351,526) in principal advances from Curacao.  
 
The loan is non-interest bearing, unsecured and matures on July 24, 2022.  The Company has recorded an 
allowance of $139,299 (2019 - $127,754) against the loan reflecting the below market interest rate.  The 
Company has recorded a loss of $11,545 (2019 - $Nil) on the issuance of the below market rate loan during 
the period ended June 30, 2020. 

 
4. EQUIPMENT 
 

 

June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019
$ $

Management fees 229,500                         162,750                         

For the period ended

Equipment
$

Cost
Balance, December 31, 2018                       -   
Additions                15,978 
Write-down                       -   
Balance, December 31, 2019 15,978              
Additions  917                   

Balance, June 30, 2020 16,895            

Accumulated Amortization

Balance, December 31, 2018 -                    

Amortization 3,785                

Balance, December 31, 2019 3,785                

Amortization 2,084                

Balance, June 30, 2020 5,869               

Net Book Value

Balance, December 31, 2019 12,193            

Balance, June 30, 2020 11,026            
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5. RIGHT-OF-USE-ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITY 
 

 
  
  Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated using the straight-line method of the remaining lease term. 
 

 
 
6. SHARE CAPITAL 

 
a. Authorized Share Capital 
 

 Unlimited number of common shares with no par value. 
 
b. Shares Issued 
 
During the period ended June 30, 2020, the Company issued 1,373,360 common shares at $0.50 per common 
share for gross proceeds of $686,680.  The last financing the Company completed was priced at $0.616 per share.  
As the Company recently completed a financing for less than the previous per share price of $0.616, existing 
shareholders were entitled to receive additional shares as part of an anti-dilutive clause.  Accordingly, the 
Company issued 882,888 shares (the “Anti-Dilution Shares”) to existing shareholders.  The Company assigned 
a value of $0.50 per Anti-Dilution Share for a total value of $441,444.  As the Anti-Dilution Shares were 
effectively a distribution, the Company allocated the $441,444 to share capital and accumulated deficit.   
 
c. Stock Options  

 
The Company has a Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”) whereby the maximum number of shares reserved for issue 
under the plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding shares. Under the Plan, the Board of Directors 
may from time to time authorize the grant of options to directors, employees, and consultants of the Company. 
Under the terms of the Plan, options will be exercisable for periods up to ten years and must have an exercise 
price not less than the fair market value of a share on the grant date. The Plan provides that the directors have 
the discretion to impose vesting of options. 
 
 

Office Lease
Cost: $
At December 31, 2019 136,288                      
Additions -                                  
At June 30, 2020 136,288                      

Depreciation:
At December 31, 2019 35,010                        
Charge for the period 18,131                        
At June 30, 2020 53,141                        

Net Book Value:
At December 31, 2019 101,278                      
At June 30, 2020 83,147                        

$
Lease liabilities recognized as of December 31, 2019 106,372                      
Lease payments made (21,099)                       
Interest expense on lease liabilities 2,110                          

87,383                        
Less: current portion (34,280)                       
At June 30, 2020 53,103                        
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6.  SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 
c. Stock Options (continued)  

 
During the period ended June 30, 2020, the Company: 
 
i) On January 1, 2020, the Company granted 1,695,000 stock options to directors, officers, and employees of 

the Company.  Each option is exercisable at $0.50 per option expiring January 1, 2025.  The stock options 
vest 25% after one year and the remaining 75% monthly over three years.    

ii) During the period, 415,000 stock options expired unexercised.   
  
 A summary of the changes in stock options is presented below: 

 

 
 The following stock options were outstanding as at June 30, 2020: 
 

  
 
Pursuant to vesting schedules, the share-based payment expense for the stock options that were granted during 
the year ended December 31, 2019 was $12,633 (2019 - $2,721) and was recorded in the condensed consolidated 
interim statement of loss and comprehensive loss.  
 
The fair value of the stock options that were granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 was calculated 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: 

 

 
 

d. Warrants 
 
No warrants were granted during the period ended June 30, 2020.  

 

Number of Weighted average
options exercise price

$
Balance, December 31, 2019 1,269,590   0.38                         
Granted 1,695,000   0.50                         
Expired (415,000)    0.62                         
Balance, March 31, 2020    2,549,590                          0.42 

Outstanding Exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date

Weighted average 
remaining life (in 

years)
$

619,590        619,590        0.20                September 30, 2024 4.50
40,000          40,000          0.20                October 31, 2024 4.59

1,695,000     -                    0.50                January 1, 2025 4.76
20,000          10,000          0.20                February 22, 2026 5.90
50,000          25,000          0.20                June 5, 2026 6.18

125,000        125,000        0.62                March 1, 2029 8.92

      2,549,590          819,590 0.42                

Risk-free interest rate 1.55%
Expected stock price volatility 100%
Expected dividend yield 0.0%
Expected option life in years 9.63
Forefeiture 0.0%
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6.  SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

d. Warrants (continued) 
 

A summary of the changes in warrants is presented below: 
 

 
 
The following warrants were outstanding as at June 30, 2020: 
 

 
 
7. MARKETABLE SECURITIES 

 
During the period ended June 30, 2020, the Company purchased 20,000 common shares at $0.25 per common 
share in Molystar Resources Inc. for a total cost of $5,000 (2019 - $Nil).  As at June 30, 2020, the market price 
of the common shares was $0.25 per common shares.  Accordingly, no fair value adjustment was recorded.     

 
8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

Intangible assets are comprised of a software platform that can be licensed out to companies in the regulated 
online gaming industry.  The intangible assets were internally generated.  No amortization was taken during the 
period ended June 30, 2020 as the assets are not yet available for use. 

 
9.  LOAN PAYABLE 
  
 During the period ended June 30, 2020, the Company received a Canada Emergency Business Account 

(“CEBA”) loan in the amount of $40,000 in response to COVID-19.  The loan bears no interest until January 1, 
2023 at which time interest will accrue at 5% per year payable monthly.  If the Company pays $30,000 back 
prior to December 31, 2022, the remaining balance will be forgiven.  The entire loan balance must be fully repaid 
on or before December 31, 2025.       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of Weighted average
warrants exercise price

$
Balance, December 31, 2019 
and June 30, 2020         1,470,320 0.24                         

Outstanding Exercisable Exercise Price Expiry Date
$

895,320         895,320             0.20                     May 31, 2023
450,000         450,000             0.20                     June 28, 2023
125,000         125,000             0.62                     March 1, 2024

       1,470,320            1,470,320 
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
  

The Company is exposed to certain financial risks as listed below. There has been no change in the exposure 
to risk, nor its objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk from the prior year. Disclosures relating 
to exposure to risks, in particular credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk are 
provided below.   

 
  Credit Risk  
   

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations. The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit 
risk are primarily cash and shareholder loans. The Company limits its exposure to credit risk with respect to 
cash by investing available cash with major Canadian banks. Management’s assessment of the Company’s 
exposure to credit risk is low. 

  
The Company’s cash is not subject to any external restrictions.  

 
  Liquidity Risk  
  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. As at 
June 30, 2020, the Company has working capital of $682,519 (2019 - $1,279,245), and it does not have any 
long-term monetary liabilities. The Company may seek additional financing through debt or equity offerings, 
but there can be no assurance that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at 
all. Any equity offering will result in dilution to the ownership interests of the Company’s shareholders and 
may result in dilution to the value of such interests. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to 
ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due. As at June 30, 2020, the Company had 
cash of $934,400 (2019 - $1,476,940) and total liabilities of $445,568 (2019 - $326,378). 
 
Market Risk    
  
Market risk incorporates a range of risks. Movements in risk factors, such as market price risk and currency 
risk, affect the fair values of financial assets and liabilities. At June 30, 2020, the Company is not exposed to 
significant market risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.  The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is minimal.    
 
Fair Values  
  
At June 30, 2020, the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term 
to maturity.     
 
Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement.   
 
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, 
unrestricted assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2 – Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are not observable, either directly or 
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 
 
Level 3 – Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value 
measurement and unobservable (supported by little or no market activity).    
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11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
  

As at June 30, 2020, the Company’s capital is composed of shareholders’ equity. The Company’s primary 
objectives, when managing its capital, are to maintain adequate levels of funding to support operations of the 
Company and to maintain corporate and administrative functions.  
 
The Company defines capital as items included in shareholders’ equity, consisting of the issued common stock. 
The capital structure of the Company is managed to provide sufficient funding for operating activities. Funds 
are primarily secured through a combination of equity capital raised by way of private placements and short-
term debt. There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to continue raising equity capital and 
short-term debt in this manner. The Company invests all capital that is surplus to its immediate needs in short-
term, liquid and highly rated financial instruments, such as cash and other short-term deposits, which are all 
held with major financial institutions.  
  
There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the period ended June 30, 
2020.  The Company is not subject to external capital requirements.   

 
12. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

On June 22, 2020, the Company entered into a definitive agreement (the “Agreement”) with FansUnite 
Entertainment Inc. (“FansUnite”).  Under the terms of the Agreement, FansUnite will acquire all of the 
outstanding shares of the Company by way of a three-cornered amalgamation (the "Transaction") pursuant to 
which the Company and a newly incorporated subsidiary of FansUnite will amalgamate under the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia) and continue as one corporation.  The acquisition of the Company by 
FansUnite concluded on August 11, 2020.   

 
The Company’s shareholders received approximately 1.9193 common shares of FansUnite (the "FansUnite 
Shares") for each Askott common share (an "Askott Share") held at closing (the "Exchange Ratio").  

 
FansUnite issued an aggregate of approximately 71,171,212 FansUnite Shares to the Company’s shareholders 
at a deemed price of C$0.39 per FansUnite Share.  

 
In addition, former holders of 125,000 common share purchase warrants of the Company are now entitled to 
purchase an aggregate of up to 239,912 FansUnite Shares at an exercise price of approximately C$0.32 per 
FansUnite Share with an expiry date of May 31, 2023 (the "FansUnite Warrants") and former holders of 
1,820,000 stock options of the Company are now entitled to purchase an aggregate of up to 3,493,122 
FansUnite Shares at exercise prices ranging from approximately C$0.26 to C$0.32 per FansUnite Share, with 
expiry dates between September 27, 2020 and January 1, 2025 (the "FansUnite Options"). 
 
A total of $4,514,585 from the Askott Private Placement has now been released from escrow. 


